Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Street

Suite 404

Buffalo, New York 14203

phone:  716-856-6525

fax: 716-856-6754

web: buffalourbandevelopment.com

Governance Committee Meeting
Monday - March 16th, 2020 - Noon
BUDC Offices, 4" Floor, 95 Perry Street

Agenda

1. Approval of Minutes of June 12, 2019 Meeting (Action) (Enclosure)

2. Procurement Policy - Re-adoption (Recommend) (Enclosure)

3. Property Disposition Guidelines - Re-adoption (Recommend) (Enclosure)

4. Governance Committee Self-Evaluation (4ction) (Enclosure)

5. Board Self-Evaluation Process Update & Review (Information) (Handout)

6. 2019 Mission Statement & Performance Measurements Results (dction) (Enclosure)
7. 2020 Mission Statement & Performance Measurements (Recommend) (Handout)

8. Public Authorities 2019 Annual Report (Recommend) (Handout)

9. Code of Ethics Review (Information) (Enclosure)

10. Governance Committee Charter Review (Information) (Enclosure)

11. Whistleblower Policy Review (Information) (Enclosure)

12. Travel, Conferences, Meals & Entertainment Policy Review (Information) (Enclosure)

13. Misc. Items — PAAA Training, New Board Member Orientation, Updated Summary of
Employee Benefits (Information) (Enclosure)

14. Adjournment (4ction)

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Board Chair » Dennis Penman, Vice Chair » Peter M. Cammarata, President « David A. Stebbins, Executive Vice President « Brandye Merriweather, Vice President
Mollie Profic, Treasurer « Atiga Abidi, Assistant Treasurer « Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary sifiis



1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

ITEM 1

Minutes of the Governance Committee Meeting
of
Buffalo Urban Development Corporation

95 Perry Street
June 12, 2019

12:00 p.m.
Call to Order:
Committee Members Present: Committee Members Absent:
Dennis W. Elsenbeck Hon. Byron W. Brown
Thomas Halligan Brendan R. Mehaffy
Thomas A. Kucharski (Committee Chair)

Amanda Mays
Dennis M. Penman

Officers Present:

David A. Stebbins, Executive Vice President
Brandye Merriweather, Vice President
Mollie M. Profic, Treasurer

Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary

Atiga Abidi, Assistant Treasurer

Others Present: Dawn Boudreau, ECIDA Compliance Officer.

Roll Call: Mr. Penman served as acting chair of the meeting. Mr. Penman called the meeting
to order at 12:06. A quorum of the Committee was present. Mr. Kucharski joined the meeting
during the presentation of item 7.0. '

Approval of Minutes of the March 13, 2019 Meeting — The minutes of the March 13, 2019
meeting of the Governance Committee were presented. Mr. Elsenbeck made a motion to approve
the minutes. The motion was seconded by Ms. Mays and unanimously carried.

PARIS Report Certification — Mr. Stebbins reported that the PARIS report was certified and
submitted by the March 31, 2019 deadline.

Public Authority Law Compliance Letters Issuance — Ms. Boudreau informed the
Committee that all Public Authorities Law compliance letters were mailed in advance of the March
31, 2019 deadline.

Re-appointment of Board Members (2019-2022) — Mr. Stebbins reported that there are
two citizen members eligible for re-appointment this year, David Nasca and Craig Slater. Mr.
Nasca and Mr. Slater have expressed that they wish to continue serving on the Board. Mr.
Stebbins also informed the Committee that the term of Board member Dennis Penman is
scheduled to expire, and that Mayor Brown intends to reappoint Mr. Penman for a new three year
term at the annual meeting. Mr. Elsenbeck made a motion to recommend that the Board of
Directors approve the proposed re-appointment of Board members Nasca and Slater. The motion
was seconded by Mr. Halligan and unanimously carried.




5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

BUDC Governance Committee Meeting — June 12, 2019

Re-appointment of Officers (2019-2020) — Mr. Stebbins circulated the proposed slate of
officers for 2018-2020 as follows:

Chair: Hon. Byron W. Brown
Vice Chair: Dennis M. Penman
President: Peter M. Cammarata
Executive Vice President: David A. Stebbins
Vice President: Brandye Merriweather
Treasurer: Mollie M. Profic
Secretary: Kevin J. Zanner
Assistant Treasurer: Atiga Abidi

Ms. Mays made a motion to recommend that the Board of Directors approve the proposed slate
of officers. The motion was seconded by Mr. Halligan and unanimously carried.

Re-appointment of Committee Members (2019-2020) — Mr. Stebbins circulated the slate

of proposed appointees to the Downtown, Audit & Finance, Governance, Real Estate and Loan
Committees. Mr. Stebbins noted that the Downtown Committee has been increased to nine
members in light of the committee’'s expanded role in waterfront development projects,
specifically the transformation of LaSalle Park into the Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park. Mr.
Hailigan made a motion to recommend that the Board of Directors approve the committee
appointments as presented. The motion was seconded by Mr. Elsenbeck and unanimously
carried.

PAAA Training — Ms. Boudreau reported that four Board members received the required
training in 2018 and two Board members received training in 2019. The Committee discussed
Public Authorities Law and Authorities Budget Office requirements. Mr. Stebbins thanked Ms.
Boudreau for helping keep BUDC in compliance with these regulatory requirements.

Adjournment ~ There being no further business to come before the Governance Committee,
upon motion made by Ms. Mays, seconded by Mr. Elsenbeck and unanimously carried, the June
12, 2019 meeting of the Governance Committee was adjourned at 12:25 p.m.

“Kevin J. Zannef, Secretary



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

AMENDED AND RESTATED PROCUREMENT POLICY

Scope and Purpose.

Pursuant to Section 2824 of the Public Authorities Law, the Buffalo Urban
Development Corporation (“BUDC”) is required to establish and adopt a
procurement policy. This Amended and Restated Procurement Policy (“Policy”)
shall also be applicable to all procurements undertaken by any existing subsidiary
or affiliated organizations of BUDC and such other subsidiaries and affiliates as
may hereafter be established by BUDC.

Procurement Procedures.

1. Solicitation Procedures for the Purchase of Goods and Services.

a.

Up to $10,000 per instance — Documented verbal quotes or
written/fax/email quotes from at least two vendors.

Greater than $10,000 to $25,000 per instance — Written/fax/email
quotes from at least three vendors.

Greater than $25,000 to $100,000 per instance — Formal written
Request for Proposal (RFP) submitted to at least three vendors and
posted at the BUDC website.

Greater than $100,000 per instance — Formal written Request for
Proposal (RFP) submitted to at least three vendors, posted at the
BUDC website and publicly noticed in the NYS Contract Reporter.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if it is reasonably anticipated that
cumulative procurements pursuant to subsections (a) or (b) above
will cost between $25,000 and $100,000 per calendar year for a
single vendor or service, BUDC shall comply with the provisions
of subsection (c) above; or if such cumulative procurements are
reasonably anticipated to cost over $100,000 per calendar year,
BUDC shall comply with the provisions of subsection (d) above.

2. Exceptions. Alternative proposals or quotations shall not be required for
procurements made through or with respect to:

a.

b.

New York State or Erie County contracts.

State Finance Law Section 175-b (from agencies for the blind or
severely handicapped).

ITEM 2



Correction Law Section 186 (articles manufactured in correctional
institutions).

Emergency Procurements — an emergency exists if the delay
caused by soliciting quotes would endanger public health, welfare
or property. Approval of the President after consultation with the
officers of BUDC is necessary, which shall be documented in the
procurement file and shall include a description of the facts giving
rise to the emergency and the basis for selecting the particular
vendor.

Time Sensitive Economic Development Opportunity — An
opportunity is time-sensitive when a vendor must be retained
quickly to avoid a delay that would adversely impact an economic
development project or initiative of BUDC. Such time-sensitive
situations include, but are not limited to: the possible loss of grant
funding; the termination, default or withdrawal of an existing
vendor; the need to respond to a court order or regulatory directive;
or some other compelling need for goods or services. Approval of
the President after consultation with the officers of BUDC is
necessary, which shall be documented in the procurement file and
shall also include a description of the facts relating to the time-
sensitive opportunity and the basis for selecting the particular
vendor.

Sole Source Procurements — A “sole source” means a situation
where (i) there is only one possible source in the marketplace for
the goods or services, (ii) no other goods and/or services provide
substantially equivalent or similar benefits, and (iii) considering
the benefits, the cost to BUDC is reasonable and in the best
interests of BUDC. Approval of the President after consultation
with the officers of BUDC is necessary, which shall be
documented in the procurement file along with an explanation of
the basis for the procurement qualifying as a sole source
procurement.

Single Source Procurements — A “single source” means a situation
where, even though two or more vendors are available to supply
the required goods or services, BUDC determines that: (i) one
particular vendor has unique knowledge or expertise with respect
to the required goods, services or project, rendering the use of
competitive procedures impractical; and (ii) considering the
benefits, the cost to BUDC is reasonable. Approval of the
President after consultation with the officers of BUDC is
necessary, which shall be documented in the procurement file
along with an explanation of the basis for concluding that a single



source procurement was in the best interests of BUDC and the
manner in which BUDC identified the selected vendor.

h. Utilities and Affiliate Transactions — The purchase of utilities and
inter-affiliate or subsidiary transactions are excepted from
alternative proposal/quotation requirements.

1. Unavailability of the minimum number of vendors required under
Section B, as applicable, that are able or willing to respond to a
solicitation.

J- Resolution Waiving Solicitation Requirements — The BUDC Board

of Directors may adopt a resolution prospectively waiving
solicitation requirements upon the Board’s determination that
solicitation would be impractical and such waiver is in the best
interests of BUDC.

Basis for the Award of Contracts.

It is the general policy of BUDC to award contracts to the lowest
responsible dollar offeror who meets the specifications therefor. BUDC
may award contracts to other than the lowest responsible dollar offeror
under circumstances that BUDC determines justify an award to other than
the lowest responsible dollar offeror. In making any such determination,
BUDC shall consider relevant factors including, without limitation:

a. The vendor is an MBE or WBE firm, or relative to other vendors
for the specific procurement has demonstrated the ability to meet
or exceed applicable M/WBE and/or minority or workforce
participation requirements;

b. Delivery, quality and quantity requirements;
C. Past vendor performance and/or experience;
d. Which proposal is most advantageous to BUDC, considering other

factors in addition to price;



Unavailability of the minimum number of vendors required under
Section B, as applicable, that are able or willing to respond to a
solicitation; and

Any procurement excepted from the alternative proposal/quotation
requirements as set forth in subsection 2 of this Section B, and the
procurement of professional services in Section E of this Policy.

Documentation: Procurement Tracking Form.

Each procurement made under this Policy shall be documented on a
separate Procurement Tracking Form, the form of which is attached hereto
as Schedule A and made a part hereof. An annual procurement report shall
be presented to the Audit & Finance Committee.

Contents of Requests for Proposals (RFP).

For all procurements under this Policy that require an RFP, the following
information shall be included in the solicitation:

a.

b.

Goods being sought or the scope of services desired;
The projected term of the contract;

Criteria to be used in evaluating proposals and the requirements
that must be fulfilled;

Schedule of relevant dates;
Insurance requirements;
M/WBE goals; and

Designation of the BUDC representative to whom communications
regarding the RFP should be directed.

Contents of Requests for Qualifications (RFQ).

For all procurements under this Policy that require an RFQ, the following
information shall be included in the solicitation:

a.

The scope of services desired;



b. Criteria to be used in evaluating qualifications and the
requirements that must be fulfilled;

c. Insurance requirements, if applicable;
d. M/WBE goals; and

e. Designation of the BUDC representative to whom communications
regarding the RFQ should be directed.

C. Erie County Businesses and Minority & Women Owned Enterprises.

It is the goal of BUDC to provide opportunities for the purchase of goods and
services from (i) business enterprises located in Erie County and (ii) certified minority
and/or women-owned business enterprises. To that end, BUDC will utilize available lists
of M/WBE businesses certified by Erie County and/or State of New York and use its best
efforts to solicit proposals from such businesses by notifying them of opportunities to
submit proposals for goods or services when practical. In addition, where the
procurement of a specific good or service is to be accomplished using funds other than
the funds of BUDC or its affiliates, BUDC shall comply with all M/WBE goals and other
M/WBE requirements applicable to such funding.

D. Effect on Other Procurement Requirements.

Where the procurement of a specific good or service is to be accomplished using
funds other than the funds of BUDC and such funding sources specify different or more
restrictive procurement requirements than are provided for in this Policy, the procurement
requirements of the funding source will supersede the requirements of this Policy.

In those instances where BUDC is a recipient of federal funds which it will use to
pay for goods or services, the procurement provisions set forth in 2 C.F.R §200.318 et
seq. shall apply, including procurement requirements applicable to goods or services that
exceed $150,000 in value (as such amount is adjusted in accordance with 48 C.F.R.
Section 2.101). For procurements using federal funds, BUDC shall include in its contract
with the vendor or contractor the applicable contract provisions set forth in Appendix II
to Part 200 of Title 2 of the Code of Federal Regulations, or any successor regulation or
appendix.

E. Professional Services.

Contracts for professional services involve the application of specialized
expertise, the use of professional judgment, or a high degree of creativity. Professional
services include services which require special education and/or training, license to
practice or are creative in nature. Examples are: lawyers, doctors, accountants, and
engineers. Furthermore, professional service contracts often involve a relationship of
personal trust and confidence. Procurement of professional services in an amount up to
$25,000 is not subject to the solicitation procedures contained in Sections B(1)(a) and (b)
of this Policy. Procurement of professional services in an amount greater than $25,000



shall be made through a written Request for Proposal (RFP) or a Request for
Qualifications (RFQ) process.

F. Procurement of Insurance.

Procurement of Insurance Brokerage services is subject to this Policy as a
professional service. Notwithstanding the foregoing, actual insurance policies procured
are not subject to the requirements of this Policy.

G. Procurement Lobbying.

BUDC shall follow the applicable provisions of the New York Procurement
Lobbying Law (State Finance Law §§ 139-j, 139-k)) for any contract or other agreement
for an article of procurement involving an estimated annualized expenditure in excess of
$15,000.

H. Reporting Requirements.

Procurements are intended to be made for no greater than the fair market value of
the asset procured. In the event circumstances exist in which the acquisition of an asset is
made where the contract price to be paid by BUDC exceeds the fair market value of the
asset, BUDC shall include in its annual report required by Section 2800(2) of the Public
Authorities Law a detailed explanation of the justification for making the purchase and a
certification by the President and Chief Financial Officer of BUDC that they have
reviewed the terms of the acquisition and determined that it complies with applicable law
and this Policy.

I Approval Thresholds.

The following approval thresholds shall apply to the procurement of all goods and
services, except those procurements made under Section B(2)(d) and (e):

1. The President and Executive Vice President of BUDC are each authorized
to procure goods and services in an amount up to $10,000. Prior to
procuring such goods or services, the President or Executive Vice
President shall confer with the Treasurer to confirm that the proposed
expenditure is within budgetary limits. The President or Executive Vice
President shall report the procurement of goods and services at the next
Board of Directors meeting following the date of procurement.

2. The Audit and Finance Committee, Downtown Committee and Real Estate
Committee, as applicable, are each authorized to approve the procurement
of goods and services greater than $10,000, but not in excess of $25,000.
Prior to procuring such goods or services, the President and applicable
committee chair shall confer with the Treasurer to confirm that the
proposed expenditure is within budgetary limits. The President or
Executive Vice President shall report the procurement of goods and



services authorized by the applicable committee at the next BUDC Board
of Directors meeting following the date of procurement.

3. The procurement of goods and services in an amount greater than $25,000
shall require the approval of the BUDC Board of Directors. By resolution,
the Board may delegate to BUDC executive staff or a committee of the
Board the authority to procure goods or services in an amount greater than
$25,000 without Board approval.

J. Annual Review.

This Policy shall be annually reviewed and approved by BUDC’s Board of
Directors.

Adopted: 7/7/2009

Amended & Adopted: 6/8/2010
Re-adopted: 3/29/2011
Re-adopted: 3/27/2012
Re-adopted: 2/26/2013

Amended and Adopted: 3/31/2015
Re-adopted: 3/29/2016
Re-adopted: 3/28/2017

Amended & Adopted: 3/27/2018
Re-adopted: 3/26/2019

10



ITEM 3

BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Property Disposition Guidelines

The Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (“BUDC”) is required by Section 2896 of
the Public Authorities Law to adopt by resolution comprehensive guidelines regarding the use,
awarding, monitoring and reporting of contracts for the disposal of Property (as defined herein).
The following guidelines (the “Guidelines™) are adopted pursuant to such requirement and are
applicable with respect to the use, awarding, monitoring and reporting of all Property Disposition
Contracts which are (i) entered into by BUDC or (ii) solicited or awarded by BUDC on behalf of
any subsidiary of BUDC (a “BUDC Subsidiary™).

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

1. “Contracting Officer” shall mean the officer of BUDC who shall be appointed by
resolution of the Board of Directors of BUDC to be responsible for the disposition of Property.

2. “Dispose” or “disposal” or “disposition™ shall mean the transfer of title or any
other beneficial interest in Property from BUDC or a BUDC Subsidiary to any unrelated third

party.

3. “Property” shall mean personal property in excess of Five Thousand Dollars
(85,000.00) in value, real property, or any other legally transferable interest in such property, to
the extent that such interest may by conveyed to another person for any purpose, excluding an
interest securing a loan or other financial obligation of another party.

4, “Property Disposition Contracts™ shall mean written agreements for the sale,
lease, transfer or other disposition of Property from BUDC or a BUDC Subsidiary to any
unrelated third party.

5. “Real Property” shall mean real property and interests therein.

ARTICLE IT
APPOINTMENT AND DUTIES OF CONTRACTING OFFICER

A. Appointment

The Contracting Officer shall be an officer of BUDC appointed by the Board of Directors

11



who is responsible for the supervision and direction over the custody, control and disposition of
Property and responsible for BUDC’s compliance with and enforcement of these Guidelines.
The Vice President of BUDC shall be the Contracting Officer for purposes of these Guidelines.
B. Duties

The duties of the Contracting Officer shall include the following:

L. Maintaining adequate inventory controls and accountability systems for all
Property under BUDC’s control.

2. Periodically conducting an inventory of Property to determine which Property
may be disposed of.
3. Preparing an annual written report of all Property. Each report shall include a list

of all Real Property, a full description of all real and personal property disposed of during the
reporting period, the price received and the name of the purchaser for all Property sold during
each reporting period. Each report shall be completed and delivered to the New York State
Comptroller, the Director of the Budget, the Commissioner of General Services and the New
York State Legislature no later than ninety (90) days following the completion of BUDC’s fiscal
year.

4. Disposing of Property as promptly as possible in accordance with these
Guidelines, as directed by BUDC.

ARTICLE 11X
PROPERTY DISPOSITION REQUIREMENTS

A. Method of Disposition

1. Subject to such exceptions and/or requirements set forth in these Guidelines, in
the event that BUDC or a BUDC Subsidiary determines to dispose of any of its Property, BUDC
shall endeavor to dispose of such Property for at least the fair market value of the Property. The
disposition of Property may be made by sale, exchange, or transfer, for cash, credit or other
Property, with or without warranty, and upon such terms and conditions as are determined by
BUDC to be appropriate and reasonable and consistent with these Guidelines.

2. No disposition of Real Property, or any interest in Real Property, may be made
unless an appraisal of the value of such Real Property has been made by an independent
appraiser and included in the record of the transaction. In addition, no disposition of any personal
property, which because of its unique nature or the unique circumstances of the proposed
transaction is not readily valued with reference to an active market for similar property, shall be
made without an independent appraisal.

12



B. Award and Approval of Property Disposition Contracts

1. Compliance with Guidelines: Approval Requirements. All dispositions of
Property shall be conducted in accordance with these Guidelines by or under the supervision of
the Contracting Officer. Any proposed dispositions of real property shall be presented to the
BUDC Real Estate Committee for consideration, and if approved by said committee, shall be
submitted to the BUDC Board of Directors for approval or other appropriate action.

2. Disposition by Public Bid.

(a) All Property Disposition Contracts may be made only after publicly
advertising for bids, unless the criteria set forth in Article III(B)(3) below has been satisfied for
such contracts to be made by negotiation or public auction.

(b) Whenever public advertising for bids is required, (i) the advertisement for
bids shall be made at such time prior to the disposal or contract, through such methods, and on
such terms and conditions, as shall permit full and free competition consistent with the value
and nature of the Property; (ii) all bids shall be publicly disclosed at the time and place stated in
the advertisement; and (iii) the award shall be made with reasonable promptness by notice to the
responsible bidder whose bid, conforming to the invitation for bids, will be most advantageous
to BUDC and New York State, price and other factors considered.

(c) Any public bid for the disposition of Property may be rejected, refused, or
declined by BUDC or the Contracting Officer on any basis or ground allowable at law.

3. Disposition by Negotiated Sale/Public Auction. The following dispositions are
exempt and excepted from the public bidding requirements set forth above in Article III(B)(2)
and may be consummated through a negotiated sale or by public auction:

(a) Below Market Dispositions. BUDC may dispose of Property for less than
the fair market value of the Property under the circumstances set forth in Article III(B)(5) of
these Guidelines.

b) Disposition of Certain Personal Property. BUDC may dispose of
personal property where such personal property has qualities separate from the utilitarian
purpose of such property, such as artistic quality, antiquity, historical significance, rarity, or
other quality or similar effect, that would tend to increase its value, or if the personal property is
to be sold in such quantity that, if it were disposed of through public advertisement and bidding,
would adversely affect the state or local market for such property, and the estimated fair market
value of such property and other satisfactory terms of disposal can be obtained by negotiation.

(©) Disposition of Low FMV Property. BUDC may dispose of Property the
fair market value of which does not exceed Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15,000.00).

(d)  Disposition Following Receipt of Unacceptable Bid Prices. BUDC may
dispose of Property where the bid prices received by BUDC after public advertising are not

13



commercially reasonable (either as to all or some part of the Property) as determined by BUDC
in its sole discretion.

(e) Disposition to New York State. BUDC may dispose of Property to
New York State or any political subdivision of New York State.

® Disposition Authorized by Law. BUDC may dispose of Property
where such disposition is otherwise authorized by law.

4, Reporting Requirements Regarding Negotiated Dispositions.

(a) Preparation of Written Statements. The Contracting Officer shall
prepare a written statement explaining the circumstances of each negotiated disposition of
Property involving any of the following:

(1) the negotiated disposition of personal property which has an
estimated fair market value in excess of Fifteen Thousand Dollars
($15,000.00);

(i)  the negotiated disposition of Real Property that has an  estimated
fair market value in excess of One Hundred Thousand Dollars
($100,000.00);

(iii)  the negotiated disposition of Real Property that will be  disposed
of by lease, if the estimated annual rent over the term of the lease
is in excess of Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15,000.00); or

(iv) the negotiated disposition of Real Property or real and related
personal property where the same will be disposed of by exchange,
regardless of value, or any Property any part of the consideration
for which is Real Property.

(b) Submission of Written Statements. Written statements prepared pursuant
to Article ITI(B)(4) shall be submitted to the New York State Comptroller, the Director of the
Budget, the Commissioner of General Services and the State Legislature no later than ninety (90)
days prior to the date on which the disposition of Property is expected to take place. The
Contracting Officer shall maintain a copy of all written statements at BUDC’s principal office.

5. Disposal of Property for Less Than Fair Market Value.

(a) No asset owned, leased or otherwise in the control of BUDC may be sold,
leased or otherwise alienated for less than its fair market value unless such disposition meets one
of the following requirements:

14



@) The transferee is a government or other public entity, and the terms
and conditions of the disposition require that ownership and use of the asset will remain with the
government or any other public entity.

(ii)  The purpose of the disposition is within BUDC’s corporate
purpose, mission or its governing statute.

(b) In the event that BUDC seeks to dispose of an asset for less than its fair
market value and neither of the circumstances set forth in Section 5(a)(i) and (ii) are applicable,
then BUDC shall provide written notification of the proposed disposition to the Governor, the
Speaker of the Assembly and the temporary President of the Senate, and such proposed
disposition shall be subject to approval or denial by the Governor, the Senate or the Assembly in
accordance with the provisions set forth in the Section 2897 (7) of the Public Authorities Law.

(c) In the event a below fair market value disposition is proposed, the
following information shall be provided to the BUDC Board of Directors and to the public:

(1) A full description of the asset;

(ii)  An appraisal of the fair market value of the asset and any other
information establishing the fair market value that may be sought by the Board;

(iii) A description of the purpose of the disposition and a reasonable
statement of the kind and amount of the benefit to the public resulting from the disposition,
including but not limited to the kind, number, location, wages or salaries of jobs created or
preserved as required by the disposition, the benefits, if any, to the communities in which the
asset is situated as are required by the disposition;

(iv) A statement of the value to be received compared to the fair market
value;

V) The names of any private parties participating in the disposition,
and if different than the statement required by paragraph (iv) above, a statement of the value to
the private party; and

(vi)  The names of other private parties who have made an offer for
such asset, the value offered, and the purpose for which the asset was sought to be used.

(d)  Before authorizing the disposition of any property for less than fair market
value, the BUDC Board of Directors shall consider the information described in 5(c) above and
make a written determination that there is no reasonable alternative to the proposed below
market disposition that would achieve the same purpose as the proposed disposition.

15



ARTICLE IV
GENERAL PROVISIONS

A. Annual Review and Submission of Guidelines

These Guidelines shall be annually reviewed and approved by the BUDC Board of
Directors. On or before the 31 day of March of each year, BUDC shall file with the New York
State Comptroller a copy of the most recently reviewed and adopted guidelines, including the
name of the Contracting Officer, and shall post the Guidelines on BUDC’s website. Guidelines
posted on BUDC’s website shall be maintained at least until the Guidelines for the following
year are posted on BUDC’s website.

B. Effect of Awarded Contracts

These Guidelines are intended for the guidance of the officers, directors and employees of
BUDC and its Subsidiaries only. Nothing contained herein is intended or shall be construed to
confer upon any person, firm or corporation any right, remedy, claim or benefit under, or by
reason of, any requirement or provision hereof, or be deemed to alter, affect the validity of,
modify the terms of or impair any contract or agreement made or entered into in violation of, or
without compliance with, these Guidelines. Without limiting the generality of the preceding
sentence, any deed, bill of sale, lease, or other instrument executed by or on behalf of BUDC or a
BUDC Subsidiary, purporting to transfer title or any other interest in Property shall be
conclusive evidence of compliance with these Guidelines insofar as concerns title or other
interest of any bona fide grantee or transferee who has given valuable consideration for such title
or other interest and has not received actual or constructive notice of lack of compliance with
these Guidelines prior to the closing.

C. Effective Date: Amendments.

These Guidelines shall be effective upon the affirmative vote of the Board of Directors of
the Corporation and may be amended upon affirmative vote of a majority of the Board of
Directors.

Effective Date: November 30, 2006
Amended: March 2, 2010
Re-Adopted: March 29, 2011
Re-Adopted: March 27, 2012
Re-adopted: February 26, 2013
Re-adopted: February 25, 2014
Re-adopted: March 31, 2015
Re-adopted: March 29, 2016
Re-adopted: March 28, 2017
Re-adopted: March 27, 2018
Re-adopted: March 26, 2019

16



ITEM 4

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
2019 Governance Committee Self-Evaluation

Responsibilities of the Governance Committee:

The core responsibilities of the Governance Committee of Buffalo Urban Development
Corporation, as mandated under Section 2824(7) of the New York Public Authorities Law, are
set forth in the Governance Committee Charter and include: (i) keeping the Board of Directors
informed of current best governance practices; (ii) reviewing corporate governance trends; (iii)
recommending updates to the Corporation’s corporate governance principles; and (iv) advising
those responsible for appointing members to the Board on the skills and experiences
necessary or required of potential Board members.

Governance Committee Self-Evaluation Comments

1. Are the members of the Governance X | O | O
Committee appointed in accordance with
the Bylaws and Governance Committee
Charter and are individuals appointed to
the Governance Committee
knowledgeable, or have expressed a
willingness to become knowledgeable, in
matters pertaining to governance?

2. |s each member of the Governance X ] ]
Committee an “independent member”
within the meaning of, and to the extent
required by, Section 2825 of the New York
Public Authorities Law, as amended from
time to time? Did Governance Committee
members comply with the conflict of
interest provisions set forth in BUDC

policies?
3. Did the Governance Committee meet a X | & | OO | The Governance
minimum of once (1) each calendar year? Committee met on
3/13/19 and 6/12/19.
4. Were meeting notices and agendas X | I | O | Minutes were provided for
prepared for each meeting and provided to the both meetings.

the Governance Committee members by
electronic or regular mail at least five (5)
days in advance of the scheduled
meeting? Were minutes of all meetings
recorded by the Secretary or any Assistant
Secretary of the Corporation? Did all
meetings comply with the requirements of
the Open Meetings Law?

17



Governance Committee Self-Evaluation

Did the Governance Committee develop

X

Comments

See responses to

the Corporation’s governance practices, Questions #6-#9 below.

which should address transparency,

independence, accountability, fiduciary

responsibilities and management

oversight?

Did the Governance Committee develop a X A Statement of the

statement of the competencies and Competencies and

personal attributes required of Board Personal was approved

members to assist those authorized to by the BUDC Board of

appoint members to the Board in Directors on 5/24/10. No

identifying qualified individuals (it being revisions to this

acknowledged that a portion of BUDC's document were

membership consists of individuals serving necessary in 2019.

in ex-officio capacities as provided under

BUDC's Certificate of Incorporation)?

Did the Governance Committee develop X No additional committees

and recommend to the Board any revisions were recommended by

to the number and/or structure of Board the Governance

committees? Committee in 2019.
During the 6/12/19
Governance Committee
meeting, two Board
members were re-
appointed to the Board
and several committee
members were
reappointed to their
committees.

Did the Governance Committee develop X New Board members

and provide recommendations to the attend an orientation

Board regarding Board member education, session and are provided

including new member orientation and with a New Member

regularly scheduled Board member Orientation Manual.

training to be obtained from state- Currently, 18 Board

approved trainers as required under members have received

Section 2824(2) of the New York Public the PAAA required

Authorities Law? training. Board members
who have not received
the training received
notifications throughout
the year regarding PAAA
training session dates.

Did the Governance Committee develop, X

review and recommend to the Board the
adoption and/or revisions to the following:

18




Comments

Governance Committee Self-Evaluation

(i) the Corporation’s Code of Ethics.

(i) written policies regarding conflicts of
interest.

(iii) written policies regarding the
protection of whistleblowers from
retaliation.

(iv) equal opportunity and affirmative
action policies.

(v) written policies regarding procurement
of goods and services, including policies
relating to the disclosure of persons who
attempt to influence the Corporation’s
procurement process.

(vi) written policies regarding the
disposition of real and personal property
and the acquisition of property.

(vii) committee charters, including the
Governance Committee Charter.

19

ttems i) & ii) are included
in the BUDC Code of
Ethics. The Governance
Committee reviewed
BUDC's Code of Ethics
during its 3/13/19
Committee meeting. No
changes were proposed.
(iii) In 2012, the
Governance Committee
approved a formal
Whistleblower Policy. No
changes to this Policy
were proposed in 2019.

iv) BUDC's EEO policy is
included in the BUDC
Personnel Handbook.

v) The Procurement
Policy was reviewed at
the 3/13/19 Committee
meeting. The Committee
did not make any
changes. The Board re-
adopted the Procurement
Policy during its 3/26/19
meeting.

(vi) The Governance
Committee reviewed the
Property Disposition
Guidelines at its 3/13/19
meeting. No changes
were necessary. The
Board re-adopted the
Property Disposition
Guidelines during its
3/26/19 Board meeting.

vii) The Governance
Committee reviewed the
Governance Committee
Charter during its 3/13/19
meeting. No changes
were necessary.




Governance Committee Self-Evaluation

(viii) any other policies or documents
relating to the governance of the
Corporation, including rules and

procedures for conducting the business

of the Corporation’s Board, including
the Corporation’s Bylaws. The
Governance Committee will oversee

the implementation and effectiveness of

the Bylaws and other governance
documents and recommend
modifications to the Board as
necessary or appropriate.

Comments

viii) The Governance
Committee did not
approve any additional
policies in 2019.

10.

Did the Governance Committee:

(i) reportits actions and
recommendations to the Board at each
regular meeting of the Board following a
meeting of the Governance Committee
and when otherwise requested by the
Board.

(ii) report to the Board, at least annually,
regarding any proposed changes to this
Charter.

(iii) provide a self-evaluation of the
Governance Committee’s functions to the
Board on an annual basis.

(i) & ii) During the BUDC
Board meeting on
3/26/19, the Governance
Committee informed the
Board that it reviewed all
policies referenced
above.

iii) The Committee
conducted a self-
evaluation during its
3/13/19 meeting.

20




Governance Committee Self-Evaluation

Other Self-Evaluation Notes

1) In February 2019, the Governance Committee performed a BUDC Board Member
Self-Evaluation for the calendar year 2018. Overall, the evaluation was positive.
The Committee approved the submission of the Summary Results Form to the
Authority Budget Office.

2) During its 3/13/19 meeting, the Governance Committee discussed BUDC’s 2018
Performance Measures & Results. The Committee did not recommend any
changes. The full Board approved the Performance Measures during its 3/26/19
Board meeting.

3) During its 3/13/19 meeting, the Governance Committee discussed BUDC’s 2019
Mission Statement and Performance Measures. The Committee did not recommend
any changes. The full Board approved the 2019 Mission Statement and
Performance Measures during its 3/26/19 Board meeting.

4) During its 3/13/19 meeting, the Governance Committee reviewed the Travel
Conferences Meals & Entertainment Policy. The Committee did not recommend
any changes.

5) During its 3/13/19 meeting, the Governance Committee reviewed the BUDC'’s 2018
PAAA Annual Report. The Committee did not recommend any changes. The full
Board approved the 2018 PAAA Annual Report during its 3/26/19 Board meeting.

6) During the 6/12/19 Committee meeting, BUDC staff reported that BUDC’s PARIS
report was certified prior to the 3/31/19 deadline. BUDC staff also reported that all
PAAA compliance letters were mailed in advance of the 3/31/19 deadline.

7) During the 6/12/19 Committee meeting BUDC staff reported that four BUDC board
members received the required PAAA training in 2018.

21



ITEM 6

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC)

2019 Mission Statement and Performance Measurements (w/ Results)
Date Approved: 3/26/2019

BUDC Mission Statement:

The mission of Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC) is to support the urban
economic development efforts of the region through acquisition, remediation and management of
distressed properties, and to engage in related real estate development activities for the purpose
of attracting and/or retaining new and existing businesses to the City as part of the region. The
mission of BUDC also includes supporting the revitalization of downtown Buffalo by serving as
the lead management entity for Buffalo Building Reuse Project (BBRP) initiatives, working in
collaboration with the City of Buffalo; including the coordination of financial assistance for
downtown adaptive re-use projects and public right-of-way improvements.

BUDC Performance Measurements:

Goal: To reclaim abandoned and distressed land and buildings for future
development.

Objective A:  Continue to establish the Northland Beltline (“Northland”) as the prime
urban area for reclamation, by implementing the redevelopment strategy
and continuing to engage in appropriate planning processes for future
development.

Measurement: Assemble any additional properties that become available which are
needed to enhance Northland.

Result: Acquired 714 Northland. This property has a long-term tenant and
provides additional parking for the campus. Continued to work with the
City on the swap of key commercial properties for vacant residential
properties. Continued to work with Plesh Industries to swap vacant land
for potential campus parking areas.

Measurement: Obtain City of Buffalo Planning Board approval for various phases of
Northland redevelopment as they occur:

Result: No further projects required Planning Board approval.

Measurement: Obtain State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) approval to maximize
the preservation of structures that will contribute to the redevelopment of
Northland and the select demolition of structures that are an impediment
to the redevelopment.

Result: No further SHPO approvals were required for the advancement of projects
in 2019.

22



Measurement: Complete construction of Buffalo Manufacturing Works (BMW) and
Phase 2 renovation of 683 Northland (“Northland Central®).

Result: BMW work was completed for their opening in the fall of 2019. All other
Phase 2 work is scheduled to be completed by March of 2020.

Measurement: Manage all compliance and milestones related to the financing for
Northland Central; including Historic Preservation Tax Credits,
Brownfield Cleanup Program Tax Credits, New Market Tax Credits, and
bridge loan financing.

Result: Compliance milestones were managed as the projects advanced.
Compliance documents have been advanced as quickly as the milestones
have been reached.

Measurement: Negotiate and execute any lease agreement amendments with the
Economic Development Group Inc. and BMW for Northland Central.

Result: A lease agreement amendment was executed with Economic Development
Group for the expansion space in 2019.

New Measurement: Execute State funding agreement with Northland Workforce Training
Center NWTC) for Phase 2.1 construction at Northland Central and
complete design and construction.

Result: N/A. This funding was included as part of the lease agreement stated
above.

New Measurement: Negotiate and execute a lease with Thinking Robot Studios (TRS)
and two (2) other potential tenants at Northland Central.

Result: TRS decided not to lease space at Northland Central, but SparkCharge and
Retech Systems leases were negotiated and executed.

New Measurement: Complete tenant build-outs for any new tenants at Northland Central.
Result: As of March 2020, this work is on-going.

New Measurement: Negotiate and execute a lease with a food service provider for the
restaurant space at Northland Central.

Result: A lease was negotiated with Manna and they began operations in late fall
of 2019.

New Measurement: Secure SHPO and National Park Service Part 3 approval for Phase 1
and 2 work at Northland Central.

Result: The SHPO and National Park Service approvals are pending.

Measurement: Complete any further remedial investigation and implement the Soil
Management Plan (SMP) for Northland Central, under the NYS
Brownfield Cleanup Program.

2

23



Result: A small amount of remedial investigation continues into the spring of
2020, related to further vapor intrusion well placement and testing.
Implementation of the SMP will begin when this work is finalized.

Measurement: Continue effective M/WBE Utilization and Workforce Participation
programs for all Northland Central construction.

Result: This is an on-going measurement, but results for 683 Northland were 42%
and 60% for 612 Northland.

New Measurement: Continue to implement the Restore NY IV & V Grant initiatives,
including the completion of renovations at 612 Northland, Phase 1
renovations at 541 East Delavan, and partial demolition of 777 Northland.

Result: 612 Northland renovations were completed under the Restore NY IV
grant. Renovations at 541 E. Delavan are on-going under the Restore NY
V grant. The partial demolition of 777 Northland was dropped as part of
Restore V.

Measurement: Continue to coordinate with the City of Buffalo on all aspects of the
Northland Avenue streets improvements project until completion.

Result: The project has been completed. Final payments and reimbursements
are being processed.

Measurement: Continue the implementation of the Historic Preservation Mitigation
measures agreed to with the State Historic Preservation Office, according
to the Memorandum of Agreement (MOA).

Result: All further work at 612 Northland and 541 E. Delavan will be reviewed by
our historical architect consultant and remain true to the MOA.

New Measurement: Continue to work with the NYSDEC regarding Superfund
investigation and remediation at the 537 E. Delavan site.

Result: We are working with and monitoring the Superfund work at 537 E.
Delavan. It continues in the investigative stage.

Measurement: If funding becomes available, begin renovations or other actions necessary
to bring other space within Northland Beltline to a “ready-to-lease”
condition.

Result: N/A. No additional funding became available in 2019.

Measurement: Continue the Community Outreach Program, with at least one additional
Public Meeting and two additional Stakeholder Advisory Committee
meetings, and additional community outreach, as appropriate such as
newsletters, social media and individual outreach.

Result: One public meeting and two stakeholder meetings were held in 2019.
Extensive individual outreach was completed by Art Hall and Sandy

24



White. An additional Northland Newsletter was published and social
media outreach continued.

New Measurement: Complete design and construction of the Entrepreneurial Center at
Northland Central.

Result: The design of the Building which was to house the Entrepreneurial Center
was completed in 2019 and construction will be completed in March 2020.
Currently the location of the Center is being discussed for another part of
the east side and the building may have a different tenant.

New Measurement: Prepare and begin to implement a green infrastructure plan for 537 E.
Delavan.

Result: A portion of this plan was implemented with the landscaping
improvements included in the renovation of 612 Northland for the
Albright Knox Art Gallery occupancy.

New Measurement: Prepare and begin to implement a community solar and district
energy plan for the Northland Corridor.

Result: A Request for Proposals for this plan was issued in late 2019 and a
consultant team will be chosen in the spring of 2020.

New Measurement: Continue to work with energy stakeholders to solicit funding from
Eaton Corporation to create an Energy Experience Center at Northland
Central, and assist in developing a community solar and district energy
plan for the Northland Corridor.

Result: A preliminary commitment for funding has been obtained from Eaton
Corporation and other funding sources are being pursued. This includes
both the Energy Experience Center and the district energy plan.

New Measurement: Complete building condition analysis and begin to implement, if
appropriate, the renovation of 631 Northland.

Result: The building condition analysis has been completed, but no renovation
was started in 2019

Objective B: Secure funds to continue to advance the Northland Beltline projects.

Measurement: Draw-down all remaining funds related to the $6.7M Grant Distribution
Agreement (GDA) with Empire State Development (ESD).

Resuit: All remaining funds for this grant have been drawn-down.

Measurement: Draw-down all remaining funds related to the $10.3M GDA with ESD for
Northland Central.

Result: Almost all remaining funds for this grant have been drawn-down.

25



Measurement: Draw-down all remaining funds related to the $6M GDA with ESD for the
WNY Workforce Training Center.

Result: Almost all remaining funds for this grant have been drawn-down.

New Measurement: Draw-down all remaining funds related to the $25M GDA with ESD
for Phase 2 of Northland Central.

Result: All remaining funds for this grant have been drawn-down.

New Measurement: Execute a grant agreement with LISC for the $50,000 Northland
Economic Development Grant and implement the related scope of work.

Result: The grant agreement with LISC was executed and the scope of work
implemented.

Measurement: Identify additional funding sources (i.e. grants and tax credits) and income
opportunities for future phases of Northland Beltline projects.

Result: A Request for Proposals was issued in late 2019 to help identify funding
sources for the renovation of 631 Northland. A consultant will be chosen
in spring of 2020. National Grid’s economic development programs
continue to be a funding source for on-going Northland development
phases.

Objective C:  Prepare land and buildings for development through remediation, select
demolition, infrastructure upgrades/construction, site improvements, and
amenity construction.

New Measurement: Assemble appropriate properties throughout the City to increase
inventory for future brownfield projects.

Result: No additional properties were assembled throughout the City in 2019, but
various acquisition opportunities were discussed with the Real Estate
Committee.

Measurement: Number of acres remediated to shovel-ready condition.
Result: One additional acre at Northland Central.
Measurement: Number of building square feet rehabilitated to leasable condition.

Result: Approximately 100,000 square feet in 2019.

Goal: To attract and/or retain new and existing businesses to the City and
region.

Objective A:  Market BUDC properties as an urban alternative for new construction of
light manufacturing, distribution and office facilities.

26



Goal:

Measurement: Assist in a minimum of four (4) prospects interested in purchasing land
and/or buildings.

Result: Assisted three prospects at Buffalo Lakeside Commerce Park (BLCP) and
one at 308 Crowley.

Measurement: A minimum of six (6) “earned” media appearances and five hundred (500)
website page and social media views.

Result: At least ten earned media appearances were related to the land sale
agreements at BLCP and 308 Crowley.

Measurement: Maintain infrastructure amenities to enhance the marketability of the
BLCP properties.

Result: Maintenance contracts were maintained to continue to hand the BUDC
properties at BLCP and Northland.

Objective B:  Support the economic development efforts of the City of Buffalo Office of
Strategic Planning (OSP) with the task of expanding or relocating
businesses of a diverse nature in the City.

Measurement: Assist in identifying parcels of land in or added to marketable inventory.

Result: At least three parcels in other areas of the City were identified to the Real
Estate Committee as potentially being added to the marketable inventory.

Measurement: Number of businesses contacted, as directed by OSP.

Result: At least six in 2019.

Objective C:  Support the economic development efforts of the City by maintaining
procurement practices that encourage the participation of local (50%),
minority (25%), and women-owned (5%) businesses.

Measurement: All informal bids, formal bids, request for proposals, and requests for
qualifications will include the City’s participation goals listed above.

Result: The City’s participation goals were included in all BUDC solicitations.
To support the revitalization of downtown Buffalo.

Objective A:  Serve as lead management entity for BBRP initiatives.

Measurement: A minimum of twenty (20) companies contacted.

Result: At least fifty (50) companies contacted.

Objective B:  Coordinate financial assistance for adaptive re-use projects.

27



Measurement: A minimum of two (2) projects assisted.
Result: Four (4) projects assisted.

Objective C:  Manage lending program as an incentive for adaptive re-use and/or new
construction projects.

Measurement: A minimum of two (2) loans approved and closed.

Result: No loans were approved in 2019. Several are in the immediate pipeline
for early in 2020.

Measurement: Finalize modifications to the BBRP Loan Program for Loan Committee
review and approval, and NYBDC use.

Resulit: BUDC has developed recommendations and the BUDC Loan Committee
is in the process of reviewing for approval.

Objective D:  Assist coordination of public right-of-way and public space improvements.
Measurement: A minimum of two (2) city blocks and one (1) public space improved.

Result: BUDC is in the process of coordinating public improvements to the
entertainment district, Erie Street public spaces and underpass areas.
Construction will begin in 2020.

New Measurement: Develop a draft waterfront implementation strategy.

Result: BUDC is working with waterfront stakeholders to facilitate regular
waterfront coordination meetings and continues to pursue funding for the
design of public realm improvements.

New Measurement: Develop a draft Flower District / Ellicott Corridor Concept Plan.

Result: BUDC is in the process of completing the Ellicott Corridor Plan.
Anticipated completion is the spring of 2020.

Objective E:  Coordinate additional phases of Queen City Pop Up (QCPU).

Measurement: A minimum of six (6) temporary retailers and two (2) permanent retailers
added to the downtown market area.

Result: Nine (9) temporary and one permanent retailers were added.

Measurement: Coordinate at least two (2) technical assistance training sessions for QCPU
retailers.

28



Result:

Measurement:

Result:

Objective F:

Measurement:

Result:

Four technical assistance trainings were coordinated (website
development, marketing & merchandising, social media, and media
relations).

Maintain a webpage and directory for/of QCPU participants.

BUDC is in the process of developing a directory that will be located on
the recently updated website.

Coordinate the publication, marketing, and distribution of an updated
State of Downtown Report.

A minimum of five hundred (500) copies distributed and two (2) “earned”
media appearances.

Vice President Brandye Merriweather coordinated the roll-out of the new
downtown development strategy (Buffalo’s Race for Place), which was
unveiled at the 2020 State of the City address.

Objective G: Build awareness of BBRP programs, tools, and incentives.

Measurement:

Result:

Measurement:

Result:

Objective H:

Measurement:

Result:

Objective I:

Measurement:

At least two (2) presentations to business associations and
professional/community groups on BBRP.

Ms. Merriweather made five (5) presentations in 2019 including the
International Downtown Association, the WNY @ Work Radio Show, It
Takes a Village Action Organization, and the Buffalo Niagara Area
Realtors.

Finalize a list of recommendations for additional BBRP tools and
incentives, based on current market conditions.

BUDC finalized recommendations outlined in Buffalo’s Race for Place
plan, these include public/private funding for infrastructure and “smart
cities” technology.

Promote the construction of additional units of downtown housing.
The announcement of two hundred fifty (250) units to be constructed.
Approximately 220 residential units announced.

Coordinate the resolution or redevelopment of targeted problem
properties within the BBRP boundaries.

A minimum of three (3) problem properties addressed.

29



Goal:

Result: Numerous BBRP problem properties were discussed in 2019, with
strategies pending.

Objective J:  Explore additional strategies and best practices for addressing problem
properties.

Measurement: Finalize draft of the “white paper” entitled City of Buffalo Problem
Property Strategy Report, for review by the City of Buffalo and final
publication.

Result: BUDC is in the process of coordinating strategies with the City of Buffalo.

To effectively manage property, development projects and initiatives.

Objective A: Engage in all aspects of productive property management including
marketing, leasing, maintenance, etc.

Measurement: Keep property related costs within budget.

Result: Incorporating various challenges brought forward by the ever-increasing
stable of Northland Corridor properties, property related costs were held
within budget.

Objective B:  Support development projects by working with regional utility companies
to include their grant programs in local initiatives. Package other
economic development incentives to enhance the marketability of
properties.

Measurement: A minimum of two (2) projects referred.

Result: BUDC staff referred at least six (6) projects to regional utility companies
in 2019.

30



Additional Questions:

Have the board members acknowledged that they have read and understood the mission of
BUDC?

The Board discussed and approved the BUDC’s mission statement at the March 26, 2019 Board
meeting,

Who has the power to appoint the management of BUDC?

The Board of Directors appoints the management of BUDC to the positions of President,
Executive Vice-President, Vice-President, Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer and Secretary.

If the Board appoints management, do you have a policy you follow when appointing the
management of BUDC?

The Board follows the BUDC By-Laws when appointing management.

Briefly describe the role of the Board and the role of management in the implementation of
the mission.

Management works closely with the Chair, Vice-Chair and Committee Chairs in formulating an
on-going work plan for management to carry out the strategic goals related to the mission of the
organization. Board members review and approve individual projects, initiatives and transactions
to ensure that they are consistent with BUDC’s mission. Board members also review and
approve the annual budget to ensure resources are allocated appropriately to meet the BUDC’s
mission.

Has the Board acknowledged that they have read and understood the responses to each of
these questions?

Yes, these questions and responses were discussed and approved by the Board at the March 26,
2019 Board meeting.

10

31



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

CODE OF ETHICS

This Code of Ethics is adopted in accordance with Section 2824 of the Public
Authorities Law and applies to all directors, officers and employees of the Buffalo Urban
Development Corporation, its affiliated entities, and any other affiliated entities that may
hereafter be established by BUDC (hereinafter collectively referred to as “BUDC”).

This Code of Ethics shall serve as a guide for official conduct and is intended to
enhance the ethical and professional performance of BUDC’s directors, officers and
employees and to preserve public confidence in BUDC’s mission.

ARTICLE1
Standards of Conduct

1. No director, officer or employee of BUDC should accept other
employment which will impair his or her independence of judgment in the exercise of his
or her official duties.

2. No director, officer or employee of BUDC should accept employment or
engage in any business or professional activity which will require him or her to disclose
confidential information which he or she has gained by reason of his or her official position
or authority.

3. No director, officer or employee of BUDC should disclose confidential
information acquired by him or her in the course of his or her official duties nor use such
information to further his or her personal interests.

4. No director, officer or employee of BUDC should use or attempt to use
his or her official position to secure unwarranted privileges or exemptions for himself or
herself or for others.

5. No director, officer or employee of BUDC should engage in any transaction
as representative or agent of BUDC with any business entity in which he or she has a direct

or indirect financial interest that might reasonably tend to conflict with the proper discharge
of his or her official duties.

Page 1 of 6

32

ITEM 9



6. No director, officer or employee of BUDC should by his or her conduct give
reasonable basis for the impression that any person can improperly influence him or her or
unduly enjoy his or her favor in the performance of his or her official duties, or that he or
she is affected by the kinship, rank, position or influence of any party or person.

7. Each director, officer and employee of BUDC should abstain from making
personal investments in enterprises which he or she has reason to believe may be directly
involved in decisions to be made by him or her or which will otherwise create substantial
conflict between his or her duty in the public interest and his or her private interest.

8. Each director, officer or employee of BUDC should endeavor to pursue a
course of conduct which will not raise suspicion among the public that he or she is likely
to be engaged in acts that are in violation of his or her trust.

ARTICLE 1
Conflicts of Interest

1. Purpose. The purpose of this Article is to protect BUDC when it is
considering entering into a transaction or arrangement that might benefit the private interest
of a Related Party, and to set forth procedures for handling potential or actual Conflicts of
Interest and Related Party Transactions.

2. Definitions.

“Conflict of Interest.” A Conflict of Interest exists if an outside interest or
activity influences (or reasonably appears to influence) the ability of an
individual to exercise objectivity, impairs the individual’s ability or
independence in fulfilling his or her duties to BUDC or reasonably tends to
conflict with the proper discharge of his or her duties to BUDC.

“Financial Interest.” An individual has a Financial Interest if the
individual has, directly or indirectly, through business, investment, or a
Relative:

(i)  Anownership or investment interest in any entity with which
BUDC has a transaction or arrangement;

(ii) A compensation arrangement with BUDC or with any entity
or individual with which BUDC has a transaction or arrangement;
or

(iii) A potential ownership or investment interest in, or

compensation arrangement with, any entity or individual with which
BUDC is negotiating a transaction or arrangement.

Page 2 of 6

33



“Key Person” means any person, other than a director or officer, whether or
not an employee of BUDC, who: (i) has responsibilities, or exercises
powers or influence over BUDC as a whole similar to the responsibilities,
powers, or influence of directors and officers; (ii) manages BUDC, or a
segment of BUDC that represents a substantial portion of the activities,
assets, income or expenses of BUDC; or (iii) alone or with others controls
or determines a substantial portion of BUDC’s capital expenditures or
operating budget.

“Related Party” means: (i) any director, officer or Key Person of BUDC or
any affiliate of BUDC,; (ii) any Relative of any director, officer or Key
Person of BUDC or any affiliate of BUDC; or (iii) any entity in which an
individual described in clauses (i) or (ii) of this paragraph has a thirty five
percent (35%) or greater ownership or beneficial interest or, in the case of
a partnership or professional corporation, a direct or indirect ownership
interest in excess of five percent (5%).

“Related Party Transaction” means any transaction, agreement or any other
arrangement in which a Related Party has a Financial Interest and in which
BUDC or any affiliate of BUDC is a participant, except that a transaction
shall not be a Related Party Transaction if: (i) the transaction or the Related
Party’s Financial Interest in the transaction is de minimis, or (ii) the
transaction would not customarily be reviewed by the BUDC Board of
Directors or boards of similar organizations in the ordinary course of
business and is available to others on the same or similar terms.

“Relative” of an individual means his or her (i) spouse, domestic partner,
ancestors, brothers and sisters (whether whole or half-blood), children
(whether natural or adopted), grandchildren, great-grandchildren, and
spouses of brothers, sisters, children, grandchildren, and great-
grandchildren.

3. Procedures for Disclosure and Resolution of Conflicts of Interest.

(a) Promptly upon learning of the existence of an actual or potential
Conflict of Interest and/or Related Party Transaction, the individual (the “Interested
Person”) shall disclose the matter and his or her Financial Interest, if applicable. Disclosure
shall be made orally at a meeting of the Board or any committee thereof, or by written or
electronic communication to the BUDC Ethics Officer or BUDC legal counsel.

(i) If disclosure is made at a meeting of the Board, the Board shall:
(A) determine whether a Conflict of Interest and/or Related

Party Transaction exists; or (B) direct the matter to the BUDC
Governance Committee for such determination.

Page 3 of 6

34



(ii) If disclosure is made at a meeting of any BUDC commiittee or to

the BUDC Ethics Officer or BUDC legal counsel, the matter will
be referred to the Governance Committee for determination of
whether a Conflict of Interest and/or Related Party Transaction
exists.

(b) The Interested Person shall, at the request of the Board or the
Governance Committee, as applicable, explain the circumstances of the actual or potential
Conflict of Interest and/or Related Party Transaction. The Interested Person shall not,
however, be present at, participate in, or attempt to influence the Board or Governance
Committee deliberation or vote regarding whether a Conflict of Interest and/or Related

Party Transaction exists.

@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

If the Board or the Governance Committee, as applicable,
determines that the agreement, transaction or arrangement is
a Related Party Transaction, then the Board or the
Governance Committee shall follow the procedures for
Related Party Transactions set forth in Section 4 of this
Article.

If the Board or the Governance Committee, as applicable,
determines that a Conflict of Interest exists, but the
agreement, transaction or arrangement does not constitute a
Related Party Transaction, then the Board or the Governance
Committee may proceed with its consideration of the
transaction, provided however, that the Interested Person
shall abstain from deliberation and voting regarding the
transaction.

If the Board or the Governance Committee, as applicable,
determines that a Conflict of Interest does not exist, then the
Board or the Governance Committee may proceed with its
consideration of the transaction, and the Interested Person
may participate in the deliberation and voting regarding the
transaction.

The existence and resolution of the potential Conflict of
Interest and/or Related Party Transaction shall be
documented in the minutes of the meeting(s) at which the
matter was discussed and voted upon.

4, Related Party Transactions.

(a) BUDC may enter into a Related Party Transaction only if the Board
or the Governance Committee determines that the transaction is fair, reasonable and in
BUDC’s best interest at the time of such determination (such determination shall be

Page 4 of 6

35



documented in the minutes of the meeting at which the Related Party Transaction was
approved); provided, however, that prior to entering into the transaction, the Board or the
Governance Committee shall consider alternatives to the extent available.

(b) Related Party Transactions shall be approved by not less than a
majority vote of the Board or the Governance Committee, as applicable (not counting the
Interested Person for purposes of voting or quorum). The Board or Governance Committee
shall contemporaneously document in the meeting minutes the basis for approval,
including its consideration of alternative transactions.

5. Annual Disclosure. Prior to the initial election of any director or officer,
and annually thereafter, he or she shall complete, sign and submit to the Secretary a written
statement identifying, to the best of his or her knowledge, any entity of which he or she is
an officer, director, trustee, member, owner (either as a sole proprietor or as partner), or
employee, and with which BUDC has a relationship, and any transaction in which he or
she might have a conflicting interest. Compliance with the financial disclosure
requirements of the City of Buffalo, if so applicable, shall be deemed compliance with the
requirements of this Section.

ARTICLE III
Ethics Officer

The Executive Vice President of BUDC shall serve as the Ethics Officer. In the
event of a vacancy, the BUDC Governance Committee Chair shall serve as the Ethics
Officer until such time as the BUDC Board appoints a successor.

The Ethics Officer shall report to the Board. The Ethics Officer shall have the
duties set forth below, and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board:

1. Advise in confidence each director, officer or employee of BUDC who
seeks guidance regarding ethical behavior.

2. Receive and investigate complaints about possible violations of this Code
of Ethics.
3. Dismiss complaints found to be without substance.
4. Prepare investigative reports of his or her findings to be submitted for action
by the Chair or the Board.
ARTICLE IV

Reporting Unethical Behavior; Whistleblower Policy

In accordance with Title 12 of Article 9 of the Public Authorities Law, BUDC has
adopted a Whistleblower Policy to afford certain protections to individuals who, in good

Page 5 of 6

36



faith, report violations of the Code of Ethics or other instances of potential wrongdoing
within BUDC. The Whistleblower Policy provides BUDC directors, officers, and
employees with a confidential means to report credible allegations of misconduct,
wrongdoing, or unethical behavior and to protect those individuals, when acting in good
faith, from personal or professional retaliation. Any director, officer or employee who
seeks to report a violation of the Code of Ethics or other instances of potential wrongdoing
should utilize the reporting procedures set forth in the Whistleblower Policy.

ARTICLE V
Implementation; Annual Review

This Code of Ethics shall be provided to all directors, officers and employees of
BUDC upon commencement of employment or appointment and shall be reviewed
annually by BUDC’s Governance Committee.

Approved and Adopted: 6-2-2009

Reviewed by Governance Committee: 5-24-2010

Re-Adopted: 3-29-2011

Amended and Adopted: 3-27-2012

Re-adopted: 2-26-2013

Re-adopted: 2-25-2014

Amended and Adopted: 3-31-2015

Re-adopted: 3-29-2016

Amended and Adopted: 3-28-2017

Reviewed: 3-5-2018 (Governance Committee of the Board of Directors)
Reviewed: 3-13-2019 (Governance Committee of the Board of Directors)

Page 6 of 6

37



ITEM 10

BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE CHARTER

s L ) e g s ey = wan T W ST,

A Tke Board of Directors of Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (“BUDC” or the
“Corporation™) hereby edopts this charter as the Governance Committee Charter (the
“Charter') of the Corporation as of the Effective Date set forth herein.

ARTICLEI

Establishment of Governance Committee:
Core Responsibilitie

The Board of Directors of the Corporstion authorized the establishment of the
Governance Committee by resolution of the Board effective as of February 23, 2006.

‘The core responsibilities of the Governance Commitiee, as set forth in Section 2824(7)
of the New York Public Authorities Law include: (i} keeping the Board informed of current
updates to the Corporation’s corporate governance principles; (iv) advising those responsible
for appointing members to the Board on the skills and experiences necessary required of
potential Board members; (v) cxamining ethical and conflict of interest issues; (vi) performing
Board seif-cvaluations; end (vii) recommending bylaws which include rules and procedures for
the conduct of Board business.

ARTICLE X
Composi e e

The Governance Committee shall be appointed by the Board and shall be comprised of
not less then three (3) independent membets, who shail constitute a majority of ths Commitics.
In the event that the Board has less then three (3) independent members, the Board may appoint
non-independent members to the Governance Committee so long as the independent members
constitate a majority of the Governance Committee, Tho term “independent member” shall
have the meaning set forth in Section 2825 of the Public Authorities E.aw, as the same may be
amended from time to time,

Appointees to the Governance Committee are tequired to possess the necessary skills to
understand the duties and functions of the Governance Comthittee, The Board shall desipnate
one member of the Govemance Committes to serve as Chair of the Governance Committee.
Bagh member of the Governance Committee scrves at the pleasure of the Board. Subject to the
foregoing, sach Committee member shall serve for a term of one (1) year and untll his or her
sucoessor shall be appointed and qualified.

38



Governance Committee mombers shall be prohibited from being en employee of the
Corporation or an immediate family member of an employee of the Corporation. Members of
the Governance Committee shall not engage in any private business transactions with the
Corporation or receive compensation from eny private entity that has material business
relationships with the Corporstion, or be an immediate family member of an individual that
engages in private business trensactions with the Corporation or receives compensation from an
entity that has material business relationships with the Corporation. In addition, Governance
Committee members shall comply with the conflict of interest provisions set forth in the
Corporation’s Code of Ethics,

ARTICLE IIT
Comuittee Meetine

The Governance Committee will meet at least annually end as frequently as may be
neoessary or appropriate in order to fulfill the functions cutlined in this Charter.

Meeting notices will be prepared for cach meeting and provided to Governance
Committes members by electronic or regular mail at least five (5) days in advance of the
scheduled meeting. Meetings shall be held in compliance with the requircments of the Open
Mestings Law. Agenda materials will be provided in ndvance of each meeting. A quorum of
the Governance Committee shall consist of @ majotity of the members then serving on the
Governance Committee. The affirmative vote of the members of the Governance Committes
shall constitute an act of the Governance Committes, Minutes of all meetings shall be recorded
by the Secretary, or la his or her absence, an Assistant Secretary or any othor person designeted
as secretery of the meeting by the Chair of the Governance Committee,

To accomplish the objectives of good governance and accoumtability, the Governance
Commitiee has the following respansibilities as set forth below:

A,  The Board of Directors hes delegated to the Governance Committee the
responsibility to review, develap, draft, revise or oversee policles and practices for which the
Governance Committee has specific expertise, as follows:

(® Develop the Corporation®s governance practices, which should address
transparency, independence, eccountability, fiductary responsibilities and management
oversight;

(i) Developa statement of the competencies and personal attritntes required

of Board members to assist those euthorized to appoint members to the Board in identifying
quaiified individuals;

39



(i) Develop and recommend to the Board any revisions to the mumber
and/or strueture of Board committees; and

(ivy Develop and provide recommendations to the Board regarding Board
member education, including new member orientation and regularly scheduled Board member
training to be cbtained from statc-approved trainers es required under Section 2824(2) of the
New York Public Authorities Law,

B, The Governance Commitice shall develop, review and recommend to the Board
the adoption and/or revisions to the following:

{® the Corporation's Code of Ethics;
(i)  written policies regarding conflicts of interest;

(i) written policics regarding the protection of whistleblowets from
retaliation;

(iv)  equal opportunity and affinmative sction policies;

(v)  written policies regarding procurement of goods and services, including
policies relating to the disclosure of persans who attempt to influence the Corporation’s
procurement process;

(vi)  written policies regarding the disposition of real and personal property
end the acquisition of property;

{(vi) committec charters, including this Charter; and

(vill) any other policics or documents relating to the governance of the
Corporation, including the Bylaws of the Corporation with respect to the rules and procedures
for the condust of Board business. The Gevernance Commiittee will oversee the
implementation and effootivencss of the Bylaws and other governance documents and
recommend modifications to the Board s necessary or appropriate.

C, The Governance Committee shall review and make recommendations to the
Board in connection with the submission to the Authorities Budget Office (“ABO™) of &
misslon statement and a proposed ist of measurements. As required by statute, the mission
statement and proposed measurements shall include the following components:

m A brief mission statement expressing the purposes and goals of the
Corporation.

() A description of the stakeholders of the Corporation end their reasonable
expoctations fram the Corporeation.

40



(iif) A list of measurements by which performance of the Corporation and the
achievement of its goals may be evaluated,

The Governance Committee shall re-examine the miysion statesrent and measurements
on an entyust basls and make recommendations to the Board regarding a self-evaluation based
on the stated measurements (which information is required to be included in the Corporation’s
annual repaort filed with the ABO). The Committes may also recommend that the Corporation
sesk a waiver from the ABO of the re-examination requirement.

ARTICLE V
Committee Reports

The Governance Committee shall:

A.  reportits actions and recommendations to the Board at each regular meeting of
the Board following a meeting of the Govemnance Commitios and when otherwise requestéd by
the Board; ‘

-

B.  report to the Bonzd, at least ennually, regarding any proposed changes to this
Charter; and

C.  provide & self~evaluation of the Governance Committee’s functions to the Board
on an ensrug! basis.

ARTICLE VI
Effective Date: Amendmenis

'This Charter shall be effective upon the affirmative vote of the Board of Directors of the
Corporation and may be amended upon affinmative vote of a majority of the Board of
Directors,

This Chartor shall also serve as the charter for the Governance Committees of each
subsidiary or affiliated corporation or entity of BUDC now existing or bereafter established,

Effective Date:; June 2, 2009

Amended: March 2, 2010

Re-ndopted:  February 28, 2013 Reviewed: 3/5/18 (Govemance Committee of the Board of Directors}
Re-adopted:  February 29,2014 Reviewed: 3/13/19 {Governance Committee of the ‘Board of Directors)
Re-adopted: March 31, 2015

Re-sdopted:  March 29, 2016

Re-adopted:  Merch 28, 2017 4

41



I

ITEM 11

BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION (“BUDC”)
WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY

Introduction

Applicability: This Whistleblower Policy (“Policy”) shall apply to the Buffalo Urban
Development Corporation (“BUDC?”), its existing affiliates and any other affiliated

entities that may hereafter be established by BUDC (hereinafter collectively referred
to as the “Corporation”) upon approval by the Board of Directors of the Corporation.

Scope: In accordance with Title 12 of Article 9 of the Public Authorities Law, the
Corporation is required to adopt a policy to protect individuals who, in good faith,
report violations of the Corporation’s Code of Ethics or other instances of potential
wrongdoing within the Corporation.

Purpose: This Policy provides directors, officers and employees of the Corporation
with a confidential means to report credible allegations of misconduct, wrongdoing,
or unethical behavior and to protect those individuals, when acting in good faith, from
personal or professional retaliation.

Definitions

“Corporation Employee”: All directors and officers of the Corporation, and all staff
employed by the Corporation, whether employed full-time or part-time, employed
pursuant to a contract, employed temporarily, or employed on a probationary basis.

. “Good Faith”: Information concerning potential Wrongdoing is disclosed in “good

faith” when the individual making the disclosure reasonably believes such
information to be true and reasonably believes that it constitutes potential
Wrongdoing.

“Personnel Action”: Any action affecting compensation, appointment, promotion,
transfer, assignment, reassignment, reinstatement or evaluation of performance.

. “Whistleblower”: Any Corporation Employee who in good faith discloses

information concerning Wrongdoing by another Corporation Employee, or
concerning the business of the Corporation itself.

“Wrongdoing™: Any alleged corruption, fraud, criminal or unethical activity,
misconduct, waste, conflict of interest, intentional reporting of false or misleading

information, or abuse of authority engaged in by a Corporation Employee that relates
to the Corporation.

Page 1 of 3

42



HI: Reporting Wrongdoing

All Corporation Employees who discover or have knowledge of potential Wrongdoing
concerning directors, officers or employees of the Corporation; or a person having business
dealings with the Corporation; or concerning the Corporation itself, shall report such activity in
accordance with the following procedures:

a.

The Corporation Employee shall disclose any information concerning Wrongdoing
either orally or in a written report to his or her supervisor, or to the Corporation’s
ethics officer, general counsel, or human resources representative.

A Corporation Employee who discovers or has knowledge of Wrongdoing shall
report such Wrongdoing in a prompt and timely manner.

The identity of the Whistleblower and the substance of his or her allegations will be
kept confidential to the best extent possible.

The individual to whom the potential Wrongdoing is reported shall investigate and
handle the claim in a timely and reasonable manner, which may include referring
such information to the Authorities Budget Office or an appropriate law enforcement
agency where applicable.

Should a Corporation Employee believe in good faith that disclosing information
within the Corporation pursuant to Section I1I(a) above would likely subject him or
her to adverse Personnel Action or be wholly ineffective, the Corporation Employee
may instead disclose the information to the Authorities Budget Office or to an
appropriate law enforcement agency, if applicable. The Authorities Budget Office’s
toll free number (1-800-560-1770) should be used in such circumstances.

IV: No Retaliation or Interference

No Corporation Employee shall retaliate against any Whistleblower for the disclosure of
potential Wrongdoing, whether through threat, coercion, or abuse of authority; and, no
Corporation Employee shall interfere with the right of any other Corporation Employee by any
improper means aimed at deterring disclosure of potential Wrongdoing. Any attempts at
retaliation or interference are strictly prohibited, and:

a.

No Corporation Employee who, in good faith, discloses potential violations of the
Corporation’s Code of Ethics or other instances of potential Wrongdoing shall suffer
harassment, retaliation or adverse Personnel Action.

All allegations of retaliation against a Whistleblower or interference with an
individual seeking to disclose potential Wrongdoing will be investigated by the
Corporation.

Any Corporation Employee who retaliates against or attempts to interfere with any
individual for having in good faith disclosed potential violations of the Corporation’s

Page 2 of 3

43



Code of Ethics or other instances of potential Wrongdoing is subject to disciplinary
action, which may include termination of employment.

Any allegation of retaliation or interference will be taken and treated seriously and,
irrespective of the outcome of the initial complaint, will be treated as a separate
matter.

V: Other Legal Rights Not Impaired

This Policy is not intended to limit, diminish or impair any other rights or remedies that
an individual may have under the law with respect to disclosing potential wrongdoing free from
retaliation or adverse personnel action.

a.

Specifically, this Policy is not intended to limit any rights or remedies that an
individual may have under the laws of the State of New York, including but not
limited to the following provisions: Civil Service Law §75-b, Labor Law § 740, State
Finance Law § 191 (commonly known as the “False Claims Act”), and Executive
Law § 55(1).

With respect to any rights or remedies that an individual may have pursuant to Civil
Service Law § 75-b or Labor Law § 740, any employee who wishes to preserve such
rights shall, prior to disclosing information to a government body, have made a good
faith effort to provide the appointing authority or his or her designee the information
to be disclosed and shall provide the appointing authority or designee a reasonable
time to take appropriate action unless there is imminent and serious danger to public
health or safety. (See Civil Service Law § 75-b[2][b]; Labor Law § 740[3]).

VI. Implementation

This Whistleblower Policy shall be provided to all directors, officers, and employees of the
Corporation and shall be reviewed annually by the Corporation’s Governance Committee.

Approved and Adopted:3/27/2012

Re-adopted: 2/26/2013

Re-adopted: 2/25/2014

Re-adopted: 3/31/2015

Re-adopted: 3/29/2016

Re-adopted: 3/28/2017

Reviewed: 3/5/2018 (Governance Committee of the Board of Directors)
Reviewed: 3/13/2019 (Governance Committee of the Board of Directors)

Page 3 of 3

44



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (“BUDC”)
and Affiliates

Travel, Conferences, Meals and Entertainment Policy

Objective:

The purpose of this Travel, Conferences, Meals and Entertainment Policy (Policy) is
to outline the policies and procedures the Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
will follow with respect to these and other related expenditures in accordance with
Section 2824 of the Public Authorities Accountability Act of 2005.

Applicability:

This policy shall apply to the Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (‘BUDC”) and any
other affiliated entities that may be established by BUDC upon approval by the Board of
Directors of the Corporation. This policy shall apply to every director, member, officer
and employee of the Corporation.

General Guidelines:

It is the Corporation’s general policy to pay reasonable and necessary travel,
conferences, meals and entertainment expenses incurred as a result of official
business subject to the presentation of appropriate documentation.

Any exceptions or potential exceptions to this Policy must be submitted to the
President (or in the case of the President to the Board Chair') for approval.

Section 1: Travel

1.1 Approval of Travel:

Travel involving overnight accommodation or travel outside of Western New York and
Southern Ontario requires the approval of the President (or the Board Chair in the
case of the President).

1.2 Personal Travel:
Personal Travel is not reimbursable. This exclusion applies to personal travel which
interrupts official travel, or precedes or follows a business trip.

Personal expenses are not reimbursable even when incurred while on a Corporation
trip. Examples of such excluded expenses are pet care, house, or child-care
expenses and purchase or repair of personal luggage.

1If the Board Chair benefited from the expenditure then the Audit Committee Chair will approve the
exception. If both the Board Chair and Audit Committee Chair benefited from the expenditure then the full
Board of the Corporation must approve the exception.

Page 1

45

ITEM 12



1.3 Reimbursable Travel Expenses:

Where practical, employees should perform appropriate due diligence to obtain the
lowest reasonable costs for travel expenses.

Transportation expenses shall be reimbursed based on an economical mode of
transportation and the most commonly traveled route consistent with the authorized
purpose of the trip.

Transportation tickets should be procured in advance in order to obtain any discounts
offered by the carrier. Every reasonable effort should be made to cancel reservations
on a timely basis to avoid no-show or late canceliation charges.

A. Automobile Travel

i) Personal Vehicle
Travelers may use their personal vehicle for business purposes if it is less expensive
than renting a car, taking a taxi, or using alternative transportation, or if it saves time.

In most circumstances, mileage shall be computed as the distance traveled to the
business destination. Mileage will be reimbursed at the prevailing IRS mileage rate
reimbursement limits which are intended to cover the cost of fuel, depreciation,
insurance, maintenance and other similar operating costs. Expenses related to the
mechanical failure or accidents to personal cars are not reimbursable.

When utilizing a personal vehicle for business, travelers must maintain liability insurance
on the vehicle in accordance with New York State requirements. The Corporation may
periodically request proof of insurance from such travelers.

ii) Rental Cars

A vehicle may be rented when renting would be more advantageous to the Corporation
than other means of commercial transportation, such as using a taxi. Advance
reservations should be made whenever possible and a compact or economy model
should be requested unless the itinerary, number of travelers or baggage support the
choice of a larger vehicle. The traveler is responsible for obtaining the best available
rate commensurate with the requirements of the trip. When the traveler uses a rental
car also for a personal side trip, he or she is expected to pay the appropriate portion of
both the per-diem and the mileage expense.

The Corporation’s insurance company currently provides liability and physical damage
coverage if a vehicle is rented in the Corporation’s name in the U.S. or Canada.
Therefore, if similar coverage is offered by the rental company, it should be declined in
these circumstances.

iii) Miscellaneous Automobile-related Expenses
Charges for parking, ferries, bridges, tunnels, or toll roads while an individual is traveling
on Corporation business will be reimbursed.

B. Air Travel

Page 2

46



Whenever practical, travelers are expected to use tourist, economy, coach or “standard”
accommodations for air travel. The Corporation discourages more than three
employees traveling on the same flight.

Travelers may retain Corporation business frequent flyer mileage credits for personal
use. However, air carrier selection cannot be biased by the traveler's frequent flyer
affiliation. The lowest cost air travel should take precedence after considering
departure/arrival times and number of stops.

C. Surface Transportation Used in Lieu of Air Travel

If advance approval has been obtained, a traveler may use surface transportation for
personal reasons even though air travel is the appropriate mode of transportation. The
cost of meals and lodging, parking, mileage, tolls, taxis, and ferries incurred while in
transit by surface transportation may be reimbursed. Such costs shall not exceed the
cost of airfare, based on the cost of regular coach fare available for the location of travel
from a standard commercial air carrier plus transportation costs to and from the airport.

D. Other Forms of Transportation

Rail, shuttle, subway or bus transportation may be used if it is convenient and less
expensive than alternative transportation or it saves time. If a traveler's destination is
served by a regularly scheduled airline, the use of rail or bus transportation shall be
reimbursed in accordance with the procedures specified under Surface Transportation in
Lieu of Air Travel.

E. Food and Lodging

Lodging, meals, gratuities and related miscellaneous expenses while an individual is
on travel status for the Corporation will be reimbursed in their actual, reasonable
amounts when properly documented. Gratuities should generally not exceed 20% of
the total bill and are reimbursable if a restaurant receipt is submitted. Generally, hotel
housekeeping gratuities are reimbursable up to $5 per day. Accommodations are
expected to be comfortable and appropriate to the particular purpose of the trip-not
luxurious or extravagant. Wherever possible, the Corporation’s New York State sales
tax exemption should be claimed. Tax exemption letters are available from the
Finance Department.

F. Miscellaneous Travel Expenses
Examples of miscellaneous travel expenses that are reimbursable are the following:

Reasonable tips for baggage handling, etc.

Business telephone or internet calls and occasional, reasonable
personal calls.

Highway and bridge tolls.

Necessary parking fees.

Small supplies on an emergency basis

Fees for visas, passports, and inoculations are allowable when they are
a specific and necessary condition of fulfilling a work assignment.

. Cab gratuities, generally not exceeding 20% of the total cost of the cab
ride.

Page 3

47



G. Travel Expenses Not Reimbursed
Expenses that are not reimbursable include:

. Lost or stolen tickets, cash, or personal property.

. Fines.

. Accident insurance premiums (the Corporation provides workers’
compensation and accidental death and disability insurance to
employees).

. Child, pet or house-sitting expenses.

o Penalties or fees for cancellation or change of discounted tickets when

the cancellation or change came about from personal rather than
Corporation choice.

. In-room movie or video game rentals.
. Hotel mini-bar charges.
. Dry cleaning (unless the Corporation requests that the traveler extends

. their regularly scheduled trip or when the traveler is away from home for
more than six days).

. All costs pertaining to spouses, partners or other non-Corporation
personnel accompanying the traveler
o Tobacco products

The above listings are not all-inclusive and items not listed will be reviewed on a case-
by-case basis.

Section 2: Conferences and Seminars

Reimbursement of conference and seminar fees and related hotel and meal
expenses will be limited to those reasonable, necessary, approved expenses which
are reported in an Expense Report with supporting receipts or documentation. The
Corporation will only reimburse reasonable meal and beverage expenses of guests
when the purpose of the meeting is to discuss Corporation business. If this is the
case, the Corporation requires that the traveler provide a listing of the guests whose
costs are being reimbursed, their organization and title and the business purpose of
the meeting.

If a conference registration fee includes an extra charge for social activities, such as

site-seeing tours, golf outings, etc., these charges are considered personal expenses
and will not be reimbursed.

Section 3: Dues of Professional or Technical
Organizations

Dues for approved memberships in professional or technical organizations are
reimbursable when they are related to the employee’s job responsibilities.

Page 4

48



Section 4: Meals & Entertainment

There are occasions when the Corporation may provide meals and light refreshments
to Board or committee members, officers, employees, guests or visitors to support the
mission of the Corporation. As with other Corporation expenditures, authorized
officials must exercise prudent business judgment in reviewing proposed
expenditures for meals and light refreshments based on their reasonableness and
benefit to the Corporation and its mission. In addition, such expenditures should be
cost effective and in accordance with the best use of Corporation administered funds.

Meals and entertainment costs of a spouse or partner will only be reimbursed if their
presence serves a business purpose (such as if he or she has a significant role in the
proceedings or makes an important contribution to the success of the event). Official
functions to which spouses or partners are invited as a matter of protocol or tradition
may be considered as bona fide business-related activities if their inclusion serves a
legitimate business purpose.

41 Employee morale-building activities Exception

The cost of meals, light refreshments and entertainment for official employee morale-
building activities that serve a Corporation business purpose may be reimbursed as an
exception to this Policy. Examples of such occasions include a gathering to honor a
departing employee who is retiring or who is separating from Corporation employment,
employee recognition receptions, annual staff picnics, and holiday gatherings.
Employee gifts and/or celebrations for milestone anniversaries (ex. 10, 15, 20, 25, etc.)
are also allowed. Celebrations and/or cakes for employee birthdays or for Corporation
interns are not reimbursable.

4.2 Entertainment Expenses Not Reimbursed
Expenses that are not reimbursable include:

. Entertainment expenses that are lavish or extravagant under the
circumstances;

. Entertainment expenses for birthdays, weddings, anniversaries, or
farewell gatherings (excluding the morale-building expenses referenced
in section 4.1 above).

. Memberships/dues for private clubs, unless such membership is
determined by the Board and/or Members to be appropriate for the
conduct of Corporation business in accordance with its corporate
purposes.

. Adult entertainment

Section 5: Advances

Page 5

49



Cash advances are not generally provided because individuals who travel regularly
on Corporation business are encouraged to use their personal credit cards to charge
their travel expenses.

If hardship would result or for travelers without a personal credit card, cash advances
can be obtained from the Finance department. To obtain an advance, the traveler
must complete a “Request for Cash Advance” form which must be approved by both
the CFO and President (or CFO and the Chair of the Audit Committee in the case of
the President). Any excess of cash advances over allowable out-of-pocket costs
must be promptly refunded to the Corporation.

Section 6: Reimbursement Approval

Reimbursement may be requested as soon as the individual has made the
expenditure, completed their Expense Report and had it approved. Expense Reports
must be approved by the President or Vice-President (or Chair of the Audit
Committee in the case of the President). The individual approving the Expense
Report should not have personally benefited from the expenditure. If the Corporation
Chairperson benefited from the expenditure then the Audit Committee Chair must
approve the Expense Report. If both the Corporation Chairperson and the Audit
Committee Chair benefited from the expenditure then the Board or Members of the
Corporation must approve the Expense Report.

In approving a request to reimburse an individual for expenditures authorized under this
Policy, the approving authority must determine that:
. The expenditure serves a clear and necessary business purpose
or benefit to the Corporation and its mission.

. The expenditure of funds is reasonable, cost effective, and in
accordance with the best use of Corporation administered funds;

. Any alternatives that would have been equally effective in
accomplishing the desired objectives were considered.

Individuals may not approve the reimbursement of their own expenses. In addition,
an employee shall not approve the expenses of an individual to whom he or she
reports either directly or indirectly.

Original, dated receipts or bills are required for hotel, car rental and airline
expenditures and for any other item of expense exceeding $25. Other out-of-pocket
expenses should be listed by date, type, and purpose on the traveler's Expense
Report.

If a required receipt is lost or unavailable, a written explanation of the circumstances
must accompany the reimbursement request.

6.1 Expenses Charged directly to the Corporation
Certain expenses may be paid directly by the Corporation through check, ACH or
other direct payment methods. Examples include such items as airline tickets, rental

Page 6

50



cars, accommodation and seminar registration fees. The fact that certain allowable
business expenses may be paid directly by the Corporation does not relieve a
traveler from complying with the substantiation requirements of this Policy (original
receipts, airline tickets and other supporting documentation must be attached and
details provided regarding any guest costs).

Fees for membership in credit card reward programs where the beneficiary of the
rewards is the individual are not reimbursable.

Section 7: Expenses in Foreign Currency

For expenses paid in foreign cash, the exchange rate at which the traveler bought the
foreign currency applies, and a receipt for the purchase of that currency shoulid be
kept and attached to the Expense Report.

Section 8: Taxability of Reimbursements

In general, where the individual supplies a detailed accounting of bona fide business
expenses to the employer, the amounts reimbursed are not taxable income to the
traveler. It is therefore in the traveler’s interest to carefully follow the Corporation’s
procedures for reporting and documenting expenses.

Section 9: Policy Exceptions

On rare occasions, exceptions to this policy may be required. Exceptions may only
be made with prior written approval by the BUDC Board Chair or Vice Chair.

Attachments

Corporation Expense Report
Corporation Tax exemption letter
Corporation Cash Advance Form

Adopted: 4/17/07

Amended: 10/25/11

Amended and Adopted: 2/26/2013

Re-adopted: 2/25/2014

Re-adopted: 3/31/2015

Re-adopted: 3/29/2016

Re-adopted: 3/28/2017

Reviewed: 3/5/2018 (Governance Committee of the Board of Directors)
Reviewed: 3/13/2019 (Governance Committee of the Board of Directors)

Page 7

51



ITEM 13

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC)
Summary of Employee Benefits (2020)

Subject to change at the discretion of BUDC, the following benefits are offered or provided to BUDC
Full-Time Employees and Part-Time Regular Employees in 2020%*:

Health Insurance: BUDC offers the BlueCross BlueShield Platinum Standard plan, which is made available
immediately upon hire. Employees are required to contribute ten (10) percent of the cost of a Single or
Family premium. If an employee maintains comparable health insurance coverage and they “opt out” of
the BUDC plan, they are paid a portion of the applicable savings to BUDC, as outlined in the employee
manual. If an employee or spouse reach age 65 and become Medicare-eligible, BUDC requires enrollment
in an individual Medicare Advantage plan. BUDC will provide a stipend to the employee equal to the
following: 100% of the individual Senior Blue 651 Medicare Advantage plan premium ($1,488 annually for
2020) plus $1,735.20 annually to cover the Medicare Part B premium. These amounts are reviewed
annually and adjusted as necessary. If an employee or spouse wishes to obtain a Medicare Advantage plan
at a higher cost, the employee is responsible for paying the difference in premium.

Dental Insurance: BUDC provides dental insurance coverage through a Lincoln Financial group policy,
which is made available immediately upon hire. The policy premium is fully-paid by BUDC.

Long-term Disability Insurance: BUDC provides long-term disability insurance through a Lincoin Financial
group policy, which is made available immediately upon hire. Coverage begins after ninety (90} days of
disability and provides for up to seventy (70) percent of an employee’s gross salary, with a maximum
benefit of six thousand dollars ($6,000) per month. The policy premium is fully-paid by BUDC.

Life Insurance: BUDC provides life insurance through a Lincoln Financial group policy, which is made
available immediately upon hire. Coverage is for one (1) times an employee’s gross wages, with a
maximum benefit of seventy thousand dollars ($70,000). The policy premium is fully-paid by BUDC.

Retirement: After nine months of employment, BUDC provides quarterly retirement plan contributions
equal to twelve (12) percent of an employee’s gross wages during the preceding quarter. The payment is
made directly to the employee’s individual SEP account, which must be registered with the BUDC CFO.

Section 125 Plan: BUDC offers a “Section 125 Plan” that allows employees to make contributions toward
out-of-pocket medical expenses or dependent care expenses on a “before tax”, rather than “after tax”,
basis.

Paid Holidays: BUDC provides Full-Time Employees and Part-Time Regular Employees with twelve {12)
paid holidays per year. They are listed in the BUDC Employee Manual. Part-Time Regular Employees are
eligible for holiday pay in proportion to the number of hours they are normally scheduled to work. Part-
Time Employees are not eligible for holiday pay.

Paid Family Leave: Since January 1, 2018, BUDC is required to offer paid family leave under New York
State’s new Paid Family Leave (PFL) statute. PFL provides paid time off so an employee can:

¢ bond with a newly born, adopted, or fostered child;

e care for a family member with a serious health condition, or;

® assist loved ones when a family member is deployed abroad on active military duty.

1

52



Vacation, Personal and Sick Days: After a ninety (90) day Introductory Period, BUDC provides all Full-
Time Employees with fifteen (15) vacation days per year, three (3) personal days per year and nine (9) sick
days per year. Employees with ten (10) or more years of service receive an additional five (5) days of
vacation per year. Part-Time Regular Employees are eligible for vacation, personal and sick pay in
proportion to the number of hours they are normally scheduled to work. Part-Time Employees are not
eligible for vacation, personal or sick pay. Note:

¢ The Introductory Period does not apply to those employees hired as of January 1, 2012. These
employees have an “anniversary date” that corresponds to the date they were originally hired by
ECIDA.

e Any sick leave that exceeds five consecutive working days requires satisfactory documentation
from a physician or similar medical professional.

e The BUDC President must approve all sick leave requests when an individual employee's sickness
record indicates frequent, patterned or persistent levels of absence.

Carry-over of vacation and personal days into following year: The number of vacation and personal days
that can be carried over into the following year is limited to one year of vacation and one year of personal
day entitlements. If vacation and personal days exceed the maximum carryover amount at December 31%,
the excess days are forfeited. Waivers are not permitted.

Carry-over of sick days into following year: The maximum number of sick days that can be carried over
to the following year is limited to sixty (60) days. If sick days exceed this maximum at December 31%, the
excess days are forfeited. Waivers are not permitted.

Payment for accrued vacation, personal and sick days upon termination of employment: Eligible
employees who provide at least two weeks advance written notice of their resignation, or employees
terminated without cause by BUDC, are paid for earned but unused vacation and personal days. Unused
sick days are not paid upon separation. Employees that are terminated for cause from their employment
with BUDC are not paid for any earned but unused vacation, personal or sick days.

Professional Associations: BUDC encourages and supports continued employee participation in
appropriate professional organizations and may pay the costs of such participation when pre-approved.

*Categories of Employment:
Full-Time Employees regularly work at least a 37.5 hour workweek.
Part-Time Regular Employees regularly work at least 22 hours or more each week.

Part-Time Employees work less than 22 hours each week.

53



